IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TRUDI LEE LYTLE; AND JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, AS TRUSTEES OF THE LYTLE TRUST,

Appellant,

v.

SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, AS TRUSTEES OF THE GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; RAYNALDO G. SANDOVAL AND JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, AS TRUSTEES OF THE RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; and DENNIS A. GEGEN AND JULIE S. GEGEN, HUSBAND AND WIFE, AS JOINT TENANTS,

Respondents.

OPENING BRIEF and Supreme Court No.: 77007

District Court Case No.: A-17-765372-C

OPENING BRIEF and Supreme Court

May 20 2019 10:59 a.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction via NRAP 3A(b)(8) because the order appealed from is an order entered after final judgment, awarding attorneys' fees and costs to Respondents.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7), the case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it is an appeal from a post-judgment order. However, Appellants contend the case should be heard by the Supreme Court due to its familiarity with the issues and matters at hand. *See* Dockets 60657, 61308, 65721, 63942, 65294, 73039.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

1. Whether the district court erred in finding the district court's prior order granting different parties summary judgment in a consolidated case was "law of the case," when the ruling was for partial summary judgment and the matter was on appeal before the Supreme Court and not final; thereby, leading to the district court's finding that pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b), the district court may grant Respondents attorneys' fees because Appellants maintained their defenses in the lawsuit without reasonable grounds?

///

///

2. Whether the district court abused its discretion in finding that Appellants maintained their defenses to the underlying action without reasonable grounds, as set forth in NRS 18.010(2)(b)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The district court granted summary judgment, which was appealed by Appellants in Docket No. 76198.

Appellants appeal the district court's post-judgment Order granting
Respondents' Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs and Memorandum of Costs and
Disbursements, entered on September 11, 2018.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Association

On January 4, 1994, Baughman & Turner Pension Trust (the "Developer"), as the subdivider of a cul-de-sac to be made up of nine (9) residential lots on a street known as Rosemere Court in Las Vegas, Nevada, recorded with the Clark County Recorder's Office a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("Original CC&Rs"). Original CC&Rs, AA000147 - 150. Appellants purchased their property, Lot 163-03-313-009 ("Appellants' Property"), on November 6, 1996, from the original buyer who first purchased it from the Developer on August 25, 1995. Respondents each own property within the Association. Complaint, AA000066 - 74.

The Original CC&Rs, in the first paragraph, defines Rosemere Estates as "Lots 1 through 9 of Rosemere Court, a subdivision..." Original CC&Rs, AA000147.

The document adds:

"it is the desire and intention of the Subdivider to sell the land described above and to impose on it mutual, beneficial, covenants, conditions and restrictions under a general plan or scheme of improvement for the benefit of all of the land described above and the future owners of the lots comprising said land."

WHEREAS, Subdivider hereby declares that all of the land described above is held and shall be held, conveyed, hypothecated, and encumbered, leased, rented, used, occupied, and improved subject to the following covenants, conditions and restrictions...

Id. Each of the properties within Rosemere Estates were conveyed to the Owners' Committee before the first lot was sold. The Owners' Committee, now named "Rosemere Estates Property Owners Association," includes each lot, or unit, therein, and each owner within the community is bound by the Original CC&Rs and governance of the Association.

Sometime after Appellants purchased their property, all of the homeowners filed Articles of Incorporation, naming the Owners' Committee "Rosemere Estates Property Owners Association," so that the Owners' Committee could obtain a bank account. Articles of Incorporation, AA000359; see also Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, Finding of Fact ("FOF") Nos. 14, 15, AA000408 - 409.

B. The Unlawful Amendment of the CC&Rs

Without warning or consult with the homeowners, the Board for the Association, on July 2, 2007, presented the Amended and Restated Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (the "Amended CC&Rs") to the Association membership. Order Granting Summary Judgment in NRED 1 Litigation, FOF Nos. 23, 24, AA000404 - 405. The Amended CC&Rs contained numerous and onerous new use restrictions including the drastic expansion of the powers, rights, and duties of the Association, a section entitled "Restrictions on Use, Alienation, and Occupancy," pet restrictions, parking restrictions, lease restrictions, the establishment of a Design Review Committee with unfettered discretion, and a new and expansive definition of "nuisance." Id. The Amended CC&Rs also contained a morality provision. Id. at FOF No. 26, AA000405. Finally, the Amended CC&Rs contained a construction timeline that would require Appellants, and only Appellants, to complete the construction of a custom home on the lot within a mere 60 days of receipt of approval from the proposed Design Review Committee—something never envisioned in the Original CC&Rs and impossible to adhere to. Id. at FOF No. 28, AA405. Failure to comply would cost Appellants \$50.00 per day. Id. at 30, AA000405. Despite failure to obtain the consent of all homeowners, the Board unilaterally recorded the Amended CC&Rs on July 3, 2007, with the Office of the Recorder for Clark County, Nevada. Id. at FOF Nos. 34, 35, see also Amended CC&Rs AA000361 - 399.

Important to the case at hand, the Amended CC&Rs provide as follows:

Section 1.1. "'Act' shall mean and refer to the State of Nevada's version of the Uniform Common-Interest Ownership Act, codified in NRS Chapter 116, as it may be amended from time to time, or any portion thereof."

Section 1.14(e). "...the Property is a common interest community pursuant to the Act."

Section 1.38. "'Property' shall refer to the Property as a whole, including the Lots and Common Elements, as restricted by and marketed and sold to third parties in accordance with this Declaration."

Section 1.24. "'Governing Documents includes the Amended CC&Rs.

Article 2: "The Association is charged with the duties and vested with the powers prescribed by law and set forth in the Governing Documents."

Section 10.2(c). "An Assessment to pay a judgment against the Association may be made only against the lots in the Property at the time the judgment was entered, in proportion to the respective Liability for Common Expense."

Amended CC&Rs, AA000367, 368, 370 – 371, 381.

C. The Underlying Litigation

After the Amended CC&Rs were adopted, the Association's membership voted to approve a Board proposal that, first, each member of the Association should be assessed \$10,000.00 "in conjunction with [Appellants'] actions" in bringing the NRED 1 litigation and in pursuing litigation against Appellants for unarticulated and nebulous reasons, and, second, that "the Association should bring foreclosure proceedings against any lots with outstanding assessments due the Association."

Order Granting Summary Judgment in NRED 2 Litigation, FOF No. 10, AA000466.

The Association initiated non-judicial foreclosure proceedings against Appellants. *Id.* at FOF Nos. 11, 20, AA000466, 468. In addition to instituting the non-judicial foreclosure process afforded to it by NRS Chapter 116 and the Amended CC&Rs, the Board recorded additional, unlawful liens without right against Appellants. *Id.* at FOF Nos. 12 – 18, 22, AA000466 - 467. The total of the three (3) unlawfully recorded liens was \$209,883.19. *Id.* at FOF Nos. 25, 26, AA000468.

D. NRED 1 Litigation

In 2007, Appellants filed an NRS 38.310 mandated non-binding arbitration before the Nevada Real Estate Division ("NRED"), naming the Association as respondent. Appellants sought a declaration that the Amended CC&Rs were unlawfully adopted, recorded and enforced by the Association against Appellants.

After the arbitrator found in favor of the Association, Appellants filed for a trial de novo in this district court, case number A-09-593497-C, which was assigned to Judge Michelle Leavitt in Department XII. The district court initially dismissed the case and affirmed the arbitrator's decisions, thereby affirming that the Amended CC&Rs were valid and the Association was a NRS 116.3101 unit owners' association, subject to the entirety of Chapter 116. *See* Supreme Court Order, Docket No. 54886. Appellants had to post a \$53,054.52 to appeal the case.

The Supreme Court ultimately reversed the District Court's order and remanded the case back to district court. *See generally* Order of Reversal and Remand, Supreme Court Order, Docket No. 54886. After remand, Appellants ultimately prevailed, entirely, in the litigation, and the Court granted Appellants summary judgment on July 29, 2013. Order Granting Summary Judgment in NRED 1 Litigation, COL No. 11, AA000408.

The court made the following pertinent findings:

- The Association is a limited purpose association as defined by NRS 116.1201. *Id.* at COL Nos. 13, 19, AA000408 409.
- The Amended CC&Rs were improperly recorded, were invalid, and the Amended CC&Rs were ordered released. *Id.* at COL Nos. 25, 26, AA000411.
- Most importantly, from July 3, 2007, through July 29, 2013, the
 Amended CC&Rs governed the Association and its members, and the
 Board acted as if the Association was a NRS 116.3101 unit owners
 association, covered by the entirety of Chapter 116. See generally id.

The last finding is consistent with the district court's original dismissal of the case and affirmance of the arbitrator's decision whereby the district court, in effect, ratified the Amended CC&Rs and status of the Association as a NRS 116.3101 unit owners' association, subject to the entirety of Chapter 116.

The matter was once again appealed, and the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the district court's Order granting Appellants summary judgment. The Supreme Court remanded the case to the district court for redetermination of costs, attorneys' fees and damages on October 19, 2015. Supreme Court Order, AA000525 – 529.

On May 25, 2016, after hearing Appellants' motion for attorneys' fees, the Court awarded Appellants \$297,072.66 in attorneys' fees pursuant to the Original CC&Rs, the Amended CC&Rs and NRS 116.4117, recognizing that during the entirety of the NRED 1 Litigation, the Association as well as Respondents were governed by the Amended CC&Rs and entirety of Chapter 116. Order Awarding Attorneys' Fees in NRED 1 Litigation, AA000414 - 471.

On June 17, 2016, the district court awarded Appellants damages, after a proveup hearing, in the amount of \$63,566.93. Order Awarding Damages in NRED 1 Litigation, AA000419 - 420. These damages included amounts expended by Appellants in the design, engineering, and other costs associated with the construction of their home for Rosemere Estates, all of which were now stale and useless.

Finally, on July 22, 2016, the Court awarded Appellants costs in the amount of \$599.00. Order Awarding Costs in NRED 1 Litigation, AA000422 - 423. Previously, the Court had awarded \$1,962.80 in costs.

On September 2, 2016, Appellants recorded Abstracts of Judgment against each property within the Association pursuant to the law set forth herein. Abstracts of Judgment from NRED 1 Litigation, AA000174 - 179.

E. NRED 2 Litigation

On March 16, 2010, Appellants initiated another NRS 38.310 mandated non-binding arbitration before NRED, naming the Association as respondent (the "NRED 2 Litigation"). The purpose of the NRED 2 Litigation was to halt non-judicial foreclosure proceedings initiated by the Association against Appellants pursuant to NRS, Chapter 116 and the Amended CC&Rs. *See* Complaint in NRED 2 Litigation, AA000434 - 448. Appellants also sought an order from the district court directing the Association to comply with NRS Chapter 116 and the Amended CC&Rs where the Association had failed to comply, e.g. approval of budgets, conduct of meetings, etc. *Id.* In that arbitration, all parties stipulated the Amended CC&Rs were valid and enforceable for the purpose of the NRED 2 Litigation. Stipulation, AA000425 - 430.

After the Association prevailed in the Arbitration (in November 2010),

Appellants promptly and timely filed a lawsuit (for trial de novo) on December 13,

2010. Complaint in NRED 2 Litigation, AA000434 - 448. The Association filed a
counterclaim, seeking to enforce the assessments the Association levied against

Appellants' property.

Appellants included the following language in their Complaint:

Pursuant to a stipulation and/or agreement between the Plaintiff TRUST and the Defendant ASSOCIATION in the NRED action, the parties to the NRED action agreed that the Amended CC and R's and Bylaws of the Defendant ASSOCIATION [were] valid and enforceable only for the purpose of the NRED action and because this is a trial de novo of the NRED action the Plaintiff TRUST once again agrees that for the purpose of this litigation only that the Amended CC and R's and bylaws of the Defendant ASSOCIATION are valid and enforceable.

Complaint in NRED 2 Litigation, ¶ 11, AA000436 - 437.

On November 14, 2011, the district court granted the Association's Motion for Summary Judgment. The court also awarded the Association's Motion for Attorneys' Fees pursuant to NRS Chapter 116 and the Amended CC&Rs, with an amount to be determined at a subsequent hearing. The court then entered two orders granting the Association's attorneys' fees pursuant to NRS 116.4117 and Section 16 of the Amended CC&Rs. Order Granting Association Fees in NRED 2 Litigation AA000453 - 457, see also Supplement Award of Attorneys' Fees in NRED 2 Litigation, AA000459 - 462. Therein, the district court held that the Association was "entitled to recover its attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to NRS 116.4117 and Section 16 of the Amended Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions." Order Granting Association Fees in NRED 2 Litigation AA000455 – 456. The district court then awarded the Association \$23,409.32 in damages (for the liens recorded by the Association against Appellants' property), \$79,483.65 in attorneys' fees, and

\$1,130.77 in costs. *Id.* at AA000456. Thereafter, the district court awarded an additional \$7,068.00 in attorneys' fees and \$117.45 in costs against Appellants. *See* Supplement Award of Attorneys' Fees in NRED 2 Litigation, AA000461, 462.

The district court's order essentially found the provisions of the Amended CC&Rs and assessment and foreclosure statutes included in Chapter 116 provided the Association with the right to assess and, indeed, foreclose for failure to pay the assessment. Once again, the district court, in effect, sanctioned the Amended CC&Rs and status of the Association as a NRS 116.3101 unit owners' association, subject to the entirety of Chapter 116. More importantly from a practical measure to Appellants, the district court's ruling coupled with the Association's vitriolic thirst to expel Appellants from the Association, compelled Appellants to post a \$123,000.00 bond and incur years of additional litigation.

On July 16, 2012, Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal. On December 21, 2015, the Nevada Supreme Court vacated the Order Granting Summary Judgment and remanded this case back to this Court for determination. Supreme Court Order Re: NRED 2 Litigation, AA000521 – 522. Specifically, the Supreme Court held that the

[Appellants'] actions during the NRED arbitration were sufficient to 'submit' their slander of title claim to the NRED arbitrator for the purposes of NRS 38.330(5). We also conclude that [Appellants] did not need to establish that they suffered monetary damages for their remaining claims to be viable.

Id. The Supreme Court also vacated the order awarding attorneys' fees, costs, and damages to the Association. Id. In the second footnote of the foregoing Supreme Court Order, and an item of importance to the present case, the Court noted that its ruling was "premised in part on [Appellants'] stipulation as to the amended CC&Rs validity." Id.

Upon remand, the case was essentially thrust back to the beginning. On November 14, 2016, the district court granted Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment as to each cause of action in Appellants' First Amended Complaint and against the Association's Counterclaim. *See* Order Granting Summary Judgment in NRED 2 Litigation, AA000464 - 478.

The district court then awarded Appellants the following: \$274,608.28 in attorneys' fees, \$4,725.00 in costs, and \$823,824.84 in punitive damages pursuant to NRS 42.005. *See* Order Granting Attorneys' Fees and Costs in NRED 2 Litigation, AA000480 - 483; *see also* Order Granting Punitive Damages in NRED 2 Litigation, AA000485 - 488. Pursuant to the foregoing, the total amount of the judgment against the Association and in favor of Appellants in the NRED 2 Litigation, including attorneys' fees and costs, is \$1,103,158.12.

F. NRED 3 Litigation

On April 2, 2015, Appellants filed an action against the Association in the Eighth Judicial District, Case No. A-15-716420-C, seeking an order from the district

court that the Association hold an election, as it had not held such an election since March 24, 2010. *See* Complaint in NRED 3 Litigation, AA000490 - 497. On September 13, 2017, the district court granted Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment in the NRED 3 Litigation, and ordered that election take place before a neutral third party. *See* Order Granting Summary Judgment in NRED 3 Litigation, AA000499 - 506.

On November 7, 2017, the district court awarded Appellants \$14,807.50 in attorneys' fees and \$655.10 in costs. Order Granting Attorneys' Fees and Costs in NRED 3 Litigation, AA000508 - 511.

All of the foregoing orders in NRED 1, 2 and 3 Litigations are final and not subject to appeal, and all monetary orders are accruing interest.

G. Recording Of The Abstracts

Appellants recorded abstracts of judgment all stemming from the judgment issued in the NRED 1 Litigation against each unit (property) within the Association, including Respondents' properties. *See* Abstracts of Judgment from NRED 1 Litigation, AA000513 - 519. Appellants obtained an Abstract of Judgment in the NRED 2 Litigation as well, but at this time have only recorded that Abstract against the Association.

H. <u>District Court Case No. A-16-747800-C (Supreme Court Docket 73039)</u>

Two homeowners, The Marjorie B. Boulden Trust ("Boulden Trust") and Jacques and Linda Lamothe Living Trust ("Lamothe Trust"), filed a lawsuit against Appellants on December 8, 2016, seeking to quiet title to their respective properties and setting forth claims for quiet title, cloud on title, and slander of title. Complaint, AA000001 – 000009, see also First Amended Complaint, AA000019 - 25, Second Amended Complaint, AA000026 - 34. The Complaint and amendments thereto only dealt with abstracts of judgment related to the NRED 1 Litigation. See general id.

On April 26, 2017, after a hearing, the Honorable Judge Timothy C. Williams, district court judge, granted the Boulden Trust and Lamothe Trust's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on all claims. *See* Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, AA000051 - 58. Therein, the district court granted a permanent injunction against Appellants. *Id.* The district court also mistakenly entered an order granting summary judgment as to Respondents' slander of title claim. *Id.*

On May 16, 2017, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration as to the slander of title claim, arguing that the district court made no findings with respect to malice, oppression, or fraud, and, therefore, a finding of slander of title was unwarranted. That Motion for Reconsideration was heard on June 29, 2017, and was

granted, and the district court entered Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("Amended Order"), withdrawing any findings related to Respondents' slander of title claim. Amended Order, AA000059 - 65.

Appellants appealed the district court's Amended Order in Supreme Court

Docket No. 73039. On December 4, 2018, the Supreme Court entered an Order of

Affirmance, <u>after</u> the attorneys' fees and costs in the instant matter were awarded.

I. Respondents' Lawsuit, District Court Case No. A-17-765372-C

Respondents filed a lawsuit on November 30, 2017, seeking to quiet title to their respective properties and setting forth claims for quiet title and declaratory relief. Complaint in District Court Case No. A-17-765372-C, AA000066 - 75. Respondents' claims address the same abstracts of judgment recorded by Appellants on Respondents' respective properties located within the Association. *See id generally*. The Complaint also addresses the judgments obtained by Appellants against the Association in NRED 2 and NRED 3 Litigation, for which abstracts of judgment were not recorded. *See id.* at ¶¶ 31 – 39, AA000071 - 72. Respondents' complaint sought declaratory relief as to whether Appellants could enforce the judgments in these cases against Respondents, even though no abstracts of judgment had been recorded. *See id.*

On February 27, 2018, the district court, Department XVIII, consolidated Case No. A-17-765372-C with Case No. A-16-747800-C. *See* Order Consolidating Cases, AA000081 - 86.

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