Nos. 76198 and 77007

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NET PER 19 2019 09:19 a.m.

TRUDI LEE LYTLE AND JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, TRUS Elizabeth Ali Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Appellants,

VS.

SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, AS TRUSTEES OF THE GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; RAYNALDO G. SANDOVAL AND JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, AS TRUSTEES OF THE RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; AND DENNIS A. GEGEN AND JULIE S. GEGEN, HUSBAND AND WIFE, AS JOINT TENANTS, Respondents.

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

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Each of the Respondents owns a lot located in the Rosemere Estates subdivision ("Subdivision"), title to which was clouded by Appellants when they recorded against the Respondents' property judgments which they had obtained against the Rosemere Estates Property Owners' Association ("Association"). On December 4, 2018, this Court entered its Order of Affirmance in Case No. 73039 affirming the District Court's granting of summary judgment to the Boulden/Lamothe homeowner plaintiffs in Case No. A-16-747900-C. There, the Court found that Appellants had no legal basis on which to record the abstracts of judgment against the individual properties in the Subdivision. The Court's legal analysis is binding precedent and dispositive of the summary judgment issues presented in this case. The relevant facts and circumstances are exactly the same and the Order of Affirmance addresses all such issues on this Consolidated Appeal.

The law of the case doctrine was correctly applied by the District Court. Despite the Appellants' arguments, law of the case can be applied by a lower court to its own prior rulings. Of course, a district court may revisit a prior ruling before it becomes final, but also may choose not to disturb matters that have already been decided. This allows the district court to promote judicial economy and avoid

inconsistent rulings for similarly situated parties. Even if law of the case did not apply then, it would certainly apply now after the Order of Affirmance.

The stipulation in the NRED 2 litigation is a distinction without a difference. Every judgment relevant to this case, including the NRED 2 Judgment, declares the Amended CC&Rs void ab initio and the Association to be a limited purpose association subject to limited application of NRS 116. The District Court's prior order, and now the Order of Affirmance, apply equally to all judgments obtained by the Appellants against the Association. These judgments could not and cannot be recorded against the Respondents real property.

As to the award of fees and costs, the Lytle Trust lacked reasonable grounds to maintain its defenses in this case. The District Court entered an Order discarding with the Lytle Trusts' legal arguments. The facts and circumstances of Respondents were remarkably similar – the only difference being the lot number in the same Subdivision. Prior to litigation, Respondents requested to be put in the same position as Boulden/Lamothe, even offering for the Lytle Trust to retain its appeal rights or add the Respondents to their already pending appeal in Case No. 73039. The District Court properly concluded that the defenses were maintained without reasonable grounds under these circumstances. Alternatively, the Court can affirm the award of fees pursuant to the fee provision of the Original CC&Rs.

Following entry of the Order of Affirmance, the Lytle Trust has continued this pattern and practice by continuing these appeals, despite clear and binding precedent from this Court on these matters. The Respondents warned the Lytle Trust that they would pursue their fees and costs if Appellants continued these

appeals. *See* Letter from Wesley J. Smith, Esq. to Richard Haskins, Esq. dated December 10, 2018, RA, Vol. 2, Part 7, RA0406-407. Therefore, Respondents request that the Court exercise its discretion and award attorney's fees to Respondents pursuant to NRAP 38.

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. Law of the case was properly applied by the District Court

Consistent with Nevada law, the Appellants have conceded that law of the case doctrine applies to the Order issued in Supreme Court Docket 73039 with regard to the NRED 1 and NRED 3 Litigation and any issues related to such. See Appellants' Opening Brief, Docket 76198, at 21, Section III.A; see Bejarano v. State, 122 Nev. 1066, 1074-75, 146 P.3d 265, 271-72 (2006) ("[t]he law of a first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same."). However, Appellants argue that the law of the case doctrine was misapplied by the District Court. This argument undermines the District Court's ability to manage its docket and exercise discretion to not relitigate issues. "The discretion of a court to review earlier decisions should be exercised sparingly so as not to undermine the salutary policy of finality that underlies the rule." Moore v. James H. Matthews & Co., 682 F.2d 830, 833–34 (9th Cir. 1982) (citing Lathan v. Brinegar, 506 F.2d 677, 691 (9th Cir. 1974) (en banc); United States v. Fullard-Leo, 156 F.2d 756, 757 (9th Cir. 1946)). As explained below, the District Court properly exercised its discretion to refrain from revisiting issues that were already decided.

1. Law of the Case applies to decisions of the same court.

Law of the case is not limited to decisions by higher courts. "The law-of-the-case doctrine 'refers to a family of rules embodying the general concept that a court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open questions decided (i.e. established as law of the case) by that court or a higher one in earlier phases." *Recontrust Co. v. Zhang*, 130 Nev. 1, 317 P.3d 814, 818 (2014) (*quoting Crocker v. Piedmont Aviation, Inc.*, 49 F.3d 735, 739 (D.C. Cir. 1995)). Neither *Zhang* nor *Crocker* state that the *law of the case* only applies to appeals. *Zhang* expressly states that it can be applied to "questions decided ... by that court or a higher one." *Id.* For the doctrine to apply, an earlier decision must have actually addressed the issue explicitly or by necessary implication. *Id.* Here, the District Court's earlier decision explicitly and necessarily addressed the issues. After the case was transferred to Judge Bailus, he exercised his discretion to not re-open questions already decided by Judge Williams. This was a proper exercise of discretion.

2. This Court has questioned *Byford*

The Appellants cite to *Byford v. State*, 116 Nev. 215, 232, 994 P.2d 700, 711-12 (2000), for its argument that law of the case could not be applied to Judgment Williams' decision. There, this Court stated that the law of the case does not apply to a trial court's ruling. *Id.* However, this Court questioned whether *Byford* had confused law of the case with law of the mandate, as follows:

Citing *Byford v. State*, 116 Nev. 215, 232, 994 P.2d 700, 711–12 (2000), Soussana argues that in Nevada, the law-of-the-case doctrine does not apply to district court decisions, only to appellate decisions. Whether Byford conflated the much narrower law-of-the-mandate doctrine, which only applies to appellate determinations,

with conventional law-of-the-case doctrine, which conventionally applies to trial court determinations, see 18B Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Edward H. Cooper, Federal Practice and Procedure § 4478.1 (2d ed.2002), need not be decided on this appeal, since the NRCP 54(b) certification and lack of an appeal make collateral estoppels, now known as issue preclusion, applicable.

Soussana v. Shaposhnikov, No. 56117, 373 P.3d 962, 2011 WL 6916452, at *2, n.1 (Nev. Dec. 27, 2011) (unpublished) (emphasis added). It is likely that *Byford* was actually referring to the law-of-the-mandate doctrine, not law of the case, when it pronounced it only applied to appellate decisions. Although this Court did not have to reach a conclusion on whether *Byford* actually made that mistake, it clearly stated that law of the case "conventionally applies to trial court determinations."

The case which *Byford* cites to, *Walker v. State*, 85 Nev. 337, 455 P.2d 34 (1969), does not limit the doctrine to appellate decisions only. While factually the law of the case doctrine is applied to an appellate decision in that case, there is no language limiting law of the case to only that circumstance. 85 Nev. at 343.

3. The Ninth Circuit and other federal courts do not limit the law of the case doctrine to appellate court decisions.

The Ninth Circuit and other federal courts, including the District of Nevada, have consistently applied law of the case to district court decisions. *See Moore*, 682 F.2d at 833 (Under the "law of the case" doctrine, the Court is precluded from re-examining an issue that was previously decided by the same court in the same case); *Harkins Amusement Enterprises, Inc. v. Gen. Cinema Corp.*, 850 F.2d 477, 491 (9th Cir. 1988) (under law of the case, earlier decision of the district court is applied to similar issues for different defendants); *Milne v. Stephen Slesinger, Inc.*, No. CV 02-08508 FMC PLAX, 2007 WL 7646410, at *12 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 15,

2007) ("the 'law of the case' doctrine is not solely an 'appellate' doctrine—a district court may apply it as a matter of discretion."); First Interstate Bank of Nevada v. United States, 874 F. Supp. 286, 289 (D. Nev. 1994), rev'd on other grounds 108 F.3d 1185 (9th Cir. 1997) (district court applied law of the case doctrine to its prior ruling on a Motion to Dismiss on a subsequent Motion for Summary Judgment); Newcomb v. Cambridge Home Loans, Inc., 2011 WL 13350270, *2 (D. Haw. Oct. 27, 2011) (citing the "law of the case" doctrine as a basis to dismiss a substantively identical complaint in the same proceeding). Allowing a District Court to apply law of the case to its own prior orders promotes judicial economy, efficiency, and speedy relief to the parties. The District Court here accomplished those goals in this case.

4. Applying the law of the case promotes justice.

"[T]he law of the case rule does not bind a court as absolutely as res judicata, and should not be applied woodenly when doing so would be inconsistent with considerations of substantial justice." *Moore*, 682 F.2d at 833 (internal quotation and citation omitted). "A court may depart from the previous decision if (1) the first decision was clearly erroneous; (2) an intervening change in the law has occurred; (3) the evidence on remand is substantially different; (4) other changed circumstances exist; or (5) a manifest injustice would otherwise result." *United States v. Cuddy*, 147 F.3d 1111, 1114 (9th Cir. 1998). "Failure to apply the doctrine of the law of the case absent one of the requisite conditions constitutes an abuse of discretion." *United States v. Alexander*, 106 F.3d 874, 876 (9th Cir. 1997). Here, none of these factors existed to warrant the District Court entering a

different decision. There was no new evidence, no new authority, and no changed circumstances. This Court upheld the District Court's Order, so there is no manifest injustice. Further, the Appellants have conceded that this Court's Order of Affirmance has decided all issues with regard to the NRED 1 and 3 Litigations. In short, applying the law of the case serves the interests of justice.

5. The Order of Affirmance mooted the law of the case arguments asserted here.

Even if law of the case was erroneously applied, this issue is moot because this Court has now affirmed the decision in its Order of Affirmance. If this case were remanded back to the District Court, law of the case will apply based on the Order of Affirmance. The result will be the same.

Issue preclusion will also apply. In *Executive Mgmt. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 114 Nev. 823, 835-36, 963 P.2d 465, 473-74 (1998), the Court clarified the three-part test for issue preclusion as follows: "(1) the issue decided in the prior litigation must be identical to the issue presented in the current action; (2) the initial ruling must have been on the merits and have become final; and (3) the party against whom the judgment is asserted must have been a party in privity with a party to the prior litigation." "Unlike claim preclusion, issue preclusion 'does not apply to matters which could have been litigated but were not.' " *Id.* at 473 quoting *Pomeroy v. Waitkus*, 183 Colo. 344, 517 P.2d 396, 399 (1974). Here, all claims and issues presented are identical. The initial Partial Summary Judgment was on the merits and all issues below have now been decided. The Lytle Trust was party

to all decisions at issue in this case. Thus, even if this case were remanded, issue preclusion will now apply.

Call it what you will, law of the case, issue preclusion, or simply that the Court had already ruled on it, the Court should find that the District Court properly entered its Order in accordance with what it had already decided for Boulden/ Lamothe and which this Court has affirmed.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND ORDERING A PERMANENT INJUNCTION AS TO THE NRED 2 LITIGATION

1. The Order of Affirmance settled all legal issues on the merits in this case.

Appellants correctly concede that this Court's Order of Affirmance settles all legal issues relating to the NRED 1 and 3 Litigations. However, the Appellants are incorrect in asserting that because they and the Association stipulated the Amended CC&Rs were valid and enforceable early in the NRED 2 litigation for limited purposes, this makes the NRED 2 litigation unique and should change the way the Court's Order of Affirmance is applied. However, the NRED 2 Judgment states that the Amended CC&Rs are void ab initio, directly contrary to and superseding the Stipulation. The Stipulation has no affect and does not make a difference to the outcome of this case.

2. The Stipulation in the NRED 2 Litigation was limited in purpose and the NRED 2 Judgment contains opposite findings of fact and conclusions of law.

The Stipulation stating that the Amended CC&Rs were valid was exclusively for the purposes of that case. A judgment pursuant to a stipulation of the parties does not have a res judicata effect. *Geissel v. Galbraith*, 105 Nev. 101, 104, 769 P.2d 1294, 1296 (1989) (*citing United States v. Int'l Bldg. Co.*, 345 U.S. 502, 505–506 (1953)). It follows that any stipulations between the Association and the Appellants is not dispositive in this case. It would be improper to hold anything in the NRED 2 Litigation against the Respondents because they were not parties. The defaulting actions of the Association cannot be imputed to the property owners. *Gearhart v. Pierce Enters., Inc.*, 105 Nev. 517, 520, 779 P.2d 93, 95 (1989) (refusing to impose liability for one defendant's default against another).

More importantly, the NRED 2 Judgment³ superseded and completely obliterated the stipulation, finding that the Amended CC&Rs were void ab initio

__

The Appellants mischaracterize the language of the NRED 2 Judgment claiming that it states that Appellants could recover attorneys fees under the Amended CC&R's "because that document, while declared *void ab initio* by the district court, was in effect and enforced by the Association against the Appellants at all times during the underlying litigation." *See* App. Br. 76198 at 19. There is no such language in the NRED 2 Judgment nor is such language implied. *See* AA-76198, Vol. 2, Part 1, at AA000186-189. The NRED 2 Judgment cites to specific provisions of the CC&R's, Amended CC&R's and quotes *Mackintosh*, but never comes to the conclusion that attorneys fees were granted to Appellants because the Amended CC&R's "were in effect and enforced by the Association during the Underlying Litigation." Therefore, coming after the fact and declaring that the NRED 2 Judgment says something different than it actually says is self serving and inconsistent with the actual findings of the Court.

and that the Association was a limited purpose association. This brings the NRED 2 Judgment in line with the NRED 1 and NRED 3 Judgments and eliminates the distinction that the Lytle Trust advocates in this appeal.

3. The NRED 2 arguments are barred by judicial estoppel.

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